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THTP ~ Oral History Interview OH 123
An interview with
Robert L. Adair

conducted and edited by
Betty E. Mitson

Robert Adair was born in Vernon, Alabama on February 11, 1908 and moved
to Clay County, Mississippi in 1930. He made his living by cutting
timber along the Tombigbee River, including the land on which Vinton,
Barton, and Colbert are located. He describes lumbering operations and
the kinds of timber that were taken from the river bottoms. During his
work along t* - river, Mr. Adair became familiar with some of the land-
marks, includiing house sites associated with Barton and Colbert. These
are discussed in the interview.

The interview with Mr. Adair was recorded in his home by Betty Mitson
on February 19, 1980. Also present was Mrs. Vivan Logan Adair.
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This is an interview with Robert L. Adair for the Tombigbee Historic
Townsites Project by Betty E. Mitson. Mr. Adair's address is Route 2,
Box 251, West Point, Mississippi 39773 and his telephone number 1is
494-3199. The interview is taking place in his home at Stephens
Switch, The date is February 19, 1980.

Mr. Adair, would you tell me where and when you were born?

I was born at Vernon in Lamar County, Alabama, on February 11, 1908.
What year did you move here to the West Point area?

1930.

Were you raised in Alabama?

Yes, in Alabama and in Lowndes County, Mississippi.

Oh, you lived in Lowndes County?

Yes, for several years. I lived in Alabama until I was about ten
years old.

Where did you go from Alabama?

I went to Tennessee.

How long were you in Tennessee?

Well, I think we went there in 1919, and we moved away from there in
about 1923, I think. We moved to Columbus in Lowndes County, Missis-
sippi.

What brought you to Clay County?

Well, I was just hunting labor. That was in the Depression days. We
were hunting labor and moved down to the Waverly Ferry. My father ran
the ferry.

You were a grown man then, weren't you?

Oh, sure, I was nearly twenty-five.

Did you live at Stephens Switch at that time?

No, ma'am, we lived at Waverly for five years, I believe.

Were you married then?

Yes, ma'am. We married in 1933 at Waverly. We lived in a little

house down on the side of the railroad, by the switch, for five years.
Then we moved to Stephens Switch.
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Did your father run the ferry at Waverly for some time?
Sixteen years.
Would you describe that ferry?

It was just a big floating bridge. Of course, they had the roads
fixed down to the bank, and concreted.

The roads were concreted?

Yes, ma'am, right on the riverbank. When you pulled it up, it had
what they called "aprons" on it, with cables that raised up and down.
When you pulled it up to the bank, it slid up on those concrete slabs
and then you had a chain to fasten the ferry until you drove onto it.
Were they able to take automobiles onto 1it?

Sure.

How many at one time?

I believe, usually two, I think I have seen them take three.

Did you ever see anybody go off the side?

No. I never did see that, but my brother was running it when a couple
drove off the end of it.

How did they get them out?

They got out theirselves. See, they kept a little boat tied onto the
side of that ferry for safety. My brother got it loose right quick
and paddled out there, and they popped up just like a fish cork.

He got them and put them into the boat.

I suppose that you also saw the Barton Ferry when it was in operation.
Oh, sure.
Would you compare the two ferries? What were the differences in them?

Well, there was really more traffic on the Waverly Ferry than on any
other ferry on the Tombigbee River, I would say. The Barton Ferry
wasn't used too much, really.

Would you say that Barton Ferry was used mainly, at that time, to go
across the river to camp?

Well, it was just like all roads. Some roads have more traffic than
others do. You see, Waverly Ferry was on the old direct Highway 50,
between Columbus and West Point. Anybody going from one town to the
other dida't go by way of Barton Ferry. It was much nearer to come

by way of Waverly.
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Was there a bridge at that time?
No.
Do you know when the bridge to Columbus was built?

Well, they had a bridge just west of Columbus. You could come plumb
around by Mayhew, back in the west. That was on the main big highway.

Is that the bridge that later went down?

No, ma'am. No, the bridge that got knocked into the river hadn't been
built but fifteen years.

Oh, so when that bridge was built, it took the place of the Waverly
ferry?

That's right; that was Highway 50. It was built about fifteen years
back.

Do you think they could get two cars onto the Barton ferry?

Oh, yes, ma'am. It was about as big as the Nashville ferry. There
was another ferry just below Columbus which was the Nashville ferry.
All three ferries were about the same size.

Did your father continue to run the Waverly ferry until he retired?
Yes, ma'am.

What kind of work did you do as a young man, when you first came here?
I worked in timber and farmed a little. Almost everybody would farm
through the summertime, and in the late summer and fall they would
start to work in the timber. I worked in timber all over in Lowndes
County. We'd haul it to Columbus. I went to hauling logs when I was
fourteen years old.

Did you work for a small milling operation?

Yes, ma'am. At that time, the big mills were in town. When you were
close enough to town, you could buy timber anywhere then. We would
buy timber, cut it, load it on a wagon, and haul it to town. We could
haul it in a seven, eight, or ten mile radius around town.

How would you market that?

Just haul it down and sell it to the big mills. They sawed it up,
manufactured it, sawed it into lumber.

You were hauling the whole log?

The whole log. It was cut into ten, twelve and sixteen-foot logs,
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just like lumber was. We would haul the cut logs, and they would
saw them into planks and ship it wherever they wanted it shipped to.

Was that the normal operation for a small operator at that time?

Well, at that time I was not in the mill. I didn't have the mill; I
was just hauling logs to the big mill. Later on, when we came to
Waverly, we started loading them on the boxcars and shipping the logs.

From Waverly, where did they go?

They'd go to Columbus and were cut up into lumber there. Then as the
timber business grew and they got to needing more lumber, then they
bought those little mills. We'd get us a little mill., When we first
gtarted, Seitz Lumber Company at West Point gave us a mill., We started
sawing for them.

When you say "we," who do you mean?

Me and my brother and everybody that worked at the mill. Sometimes
there would be fifteen or twenty.

Would Seitz finance you to buy that equipment?

Yes, ma'am. They loaned us the money to buy the timber wherever we
could find 1it.

But how did you finance the equipment?

They lent us the money.

Was this equipment that you could move from place to place?

That's right,

Would you do that on a big wagon?

That's right, and on trucks. One sawmill might have one good truck
to haul its lumber on, or maybe two trucks. Like every other busi-
ness, they grew up when they could. We would set up those mills in
the woods and manufacture, saw, this lumber there. Then we didn't
have to haul anything to town but the lumber. See, we throwed away
all the waste.

What kinds of wood were you cutting?

I cut most every kind you can think of. We cut oak, gum of all kinds,

pine, cedar, willow. We just cut the general run of hardwood timber
and pine.

Would you make some comments about the different qualities of the wood
that you dealt with, what might be easier to cut, what might be more
difficult to haul, and that kind of thing?
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Oh, sure. Well, the pine was the easiest and was the most economical
to cut and haul. We called it southern yellow pine. Of course, we

had to cut the oak, but the red oak--well, at that time we had white
oak, too, but not too much of it--but the red oak and white oak made
hardwood flooring. That was rather easily manufactured. Of course,
it was heavier than the pine and you couldn't handle as much of it
as the pine.

What was the most plentiful?

Oak and sweet gum. From sweet gum, they made furniture.

What about cedar?

Well, there's not much cedar in this country. They had a market for
cedar. The lumber folks would sell it, In those days, dar was
used in rather expensive furniture. It seems like they it using
cedar very much., They had made cedar chests and chiffc es and so
on, but that died. Moths don't go in cedar furniture, . | =ople
would line their clothes with it. :

What wood brought you the best price?

The best price would be for the yellow pine.

Why?

Well, it was used more in building houses, and more of it was shipped
to different countries. You see, these lumber mills, wherever they
could get an order for a bunch of that yellow pine, I think they got
pretty good money for it. That's today.

They exported it?

Yes.

And you got a better price for that than for oak?

Some. It didn't make much difference, but you got a better price for
yellow pine.

What did you actually cut the most of?

Well, I cut oak, and gum, and hardwood the most when I was cutting,
because there was the most of it. Of course, the next was pine.

Would there be certain areas where you'd get a certain kind of tree?
Sure.

For instance, in the sandy land would you get a certain kind of tree
that would be different from what you would find in the prairie land?

Oh, sure. The prairie-land timber mostly grew short. It was a dif-
ferent species of white oak. They call it "post oak.”" It was classed
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along with the white oak, except I don't think they ever used the
post oak much in making whiskey-barrel staves. You see, most of

this white oak went to . . . a lot of it, I think, left this coun-
try and went to Terre Haute, Indiana.

What was there?

That was a whiskey place, I guess, where they manufactured whiskey
barrels. That's what the white oak was used for, mostly. But the
old post oak was a short-type tree; it didn't grow very tall. It

was hard like white oak, though, and was about the same species.

What kind would you get on the sandy land?

Well, you'd get a lot of pine on the sandy land. Pine grows better
in the sandy land. Up in the prairie, you won't see any pine today.
It never has grown there. Everything has its nature; it has a place
to grow. It has adapted to certain conditions. I reckon that's the
way God made the world. He put it like it's supposed teo be. In this
prairie with a lot of lime, pine don't grow. Those big timber com-
panies that set out pine, they won't buy prairie land for that. They
use clay or sand.

Was there cedar down in the sandy land?

Well, a lot of it grows in the prairie, too, but it's like the oak;
it's short.

Oh, if it grows in the prairie land, it grows short?

It grows short there. It's the same tree in either place, but it grows
better in the sandy land.

What about willow?
You find willow down in the swampy land. It grows close to water.
Would that be hard to get?

In this country you don't see much of it now. We had quite a bit of
it when I was at Vicksburg, but you don't see none of it much up here.

Wouldn't it be hard to cut in the swamp?

Oh, sure, it would be hard to get wut.

Would you get down in hip boots to get that?

In hip boots, and sometimes you had to get into the water to cut it.
How would you pull it out?

In the first logging days, they used oxen. They'd get right down in

L e Y
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the mud with oxen to pull it out. But nowadays, you see, they've
got caterpillars and log skidders.

How did you get it out?

Well, when I first started, I have used oxen, but not much. Then we
went from oxen, to mules, to horses, and from there to caterpillars
and log skidders.

When you used oxen, was that before you came to Clay County?

Oh, yes, when I was a young man. There was a company called the Box
Mill, and they kept a few oxen for such jobs as that. They would

just lend you those oxen to take the timber out of the real bad places,
where the horses and things couldn't go.

When you worked here in Clay County and Seitz Lumber Company furnished
your financing and your equipment, did you always sell your lumber to
them?

Yes, ma'am.

How would you get it to West Point?

On a truck.

Would they come and get it for you, or would you have to haul it?

I'd have to haul it. They paid me so much a thousand board feet
when I delivered it.

Did they keep books or would they pay you regularly when you delivered?
They'd pay us mostly on Saturdays. If we wanted any money before then,
they would pay us. But usually we would go in on the weekend and get
our money.

Would you be delivering almost daily?

Sure, we delivered what we had cut everyday.

How long a day did you work?

Eight hours and ten. We called it eight and ten, but it would be
mostly twelve. Of course, you know, the hired laborer didn't want

to put in over eight or ten hours, but us, we who had to see after

it, worked from daylight to dark and into the night.

You and your brother operated together. Did you have hired men most
of the time, too?

That's right.

How many would you have to hire?
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Well, I don't remember just exactly how many then, but I remember
that I had eighteen at one time.

When you got to be that size of an operation, did you call yourself
by a particular name? Did you say you were a certain lumber compeany?

No, ma'am. I still jus. uauled to Seitz Lumber Company. See, I log-
ged to them for a good while before they let me have the mill. I be-
lieve it was between thirty-five and forty years, from about 1935 to
about four years ago.

You logged down on the old sites of Barton and Colbert, didn't you?
Yes, ma'am. I've logged off of where they claim the old town used

to be. There is a camphouse sitting there now, the Simmons camphouse.
That's just south of the ferry on the west side of the river.

I want to talk about that in a minute. But first I want to ask you,
if you got any specific kinds of trees, or if it was generally all
these kinds of trees that we have been talking about?

Well, there was more pine than there was the other, but it was in
general, all just like the rest of it.

When you first came into that area, was the Weyerhaeuser Timber
Company already operating in the general vicinity?

No, ma'am.

Do you remember about what time Weyerhaeuser moved into that area
of Mississippi?

No, I sure don't.
Was it after the Second World War?
Yes, ma'am.

So in the early period there was no massive logging off by any big
lumbering company?

No, ma'am. Such as the Weyerhaeuser and the Georgia Pacific? I
didn't know they existed.

Do you think it could have been the 1950s?

I believe it was. The 19508 or 1960s. Well, it would go back a lit-
tle further than the 1960s.

I don't think so, Robert. I don't think so.

—— o e - r - m———— - ——
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Do you remember the area around there where they may have logged off?
No, ma'am, I don't, not the Weyerhaeuser Company.
What about Georgia Pacific?

Well, Georgia Pacific has never operated right in here. When I quit
logging, we were logging in the same bottom dowm at Nashville Ferry.
See, they plant their pine and grow it for their paper mill, and so
does Weyerhaeuser; they grow their timber for paper and lumber, too.

Well, when Weyerhaeuser did move into Clay County, I'm not certain
where they did their early work. But I do want to know about how
they cleared the land and replanted. Back in those days, did you
see their clearing? TFor instance, did they dig up the earth to
replant?

No, ma'am. A lot of times they just went there and did what they
called "girdling" those hardwood trees. If there was emough good
timber, they would sell it off and let somebody manufacture it. But
if it wasn't, they would just go there and poison it. They would cut
a ring around that tree and put some kind of poison on it., It would
just stand there and die, and they'd plant those little pines in
among this dead timber. The first I ever knew of Weyerhaeuser coming
to Clay County, I think that was probably up in the 1960s. It was up
here on the Rose place. That's my first knowing of where they come to.
They might have come somewhere else. A lot of that was prairie coun-
try. After they bought that land there--1 believe it was twenty-six
hundred acres--they decided that it wouldn't be good to grow pine on.
There were worlds of big pine on 1it, so I don't know why but they de-
cided that it wouldn't be good and they sold that particular place.
They manufactured all the timber off of it, the pine and everything
that they wanted and then sold the land.

I sawmilled there for two or three years and hauled it to Seitz
Lumber Company. They sold the timber off of it, then sold the land.
I don't know why they said it wouldn't grow pine. They got, you
know, specialists claiming that they knew what they are doing. They
said it wouldn't grow pine, but it did at one time.

I've been wondering if they dug up the soil when they did any of
their replanting anywhere. Have you ever known them to do that?

No, ma'am. But where they do what they call clear-cutting, they do
bulldoze that land. They clean it off to where they can run machin-
ery to plant those pines with. That's where they have a lot of land,
a big operation. But where they deaden this timber, they just went
in there with men with some kind of little old spade and planted that
stuff all in there, you see, to save bulldozing and so much expense
on planting it. Where they got lots of land, they plant it by
machinery.

You don't know which system they used in Vinton or Barton or Colbert,
do you?
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A: I believe they used the deadening; they did, they used the deadening.
M: The deadening technique?

A: The deadening technique.

M: So, that means, then, that the soil would not have been ripped up.

A: No.

M: What happened to those trees that were killed?

A: They fell down and rotted.

M: And the little pines that they put in, were put in while the older
trees were still in the rotting stage?

A: Still in the rotting stage.
M: Do you know where that happened? In the Vinton area?

A: Well, where I was talking about, the little old town of Colbert where
that camphouse was, tight to the west they fixed it that way.

M: They did?

A: That's right.

; M: Whose place is that camphouse that you spoke of?
A: Simmons. It was at that time.

M: Do you know if that is a very old building?

1 A: No, it was just recently put up there on the river for a camphouse.
There was no sign of a town. Sometimes you'd rum into some brick in
the ground.

M: You mean from an earlier building?

A: I guess it was from the little old town of Colbert.

- M: Do you mean they ran into it when they were building the camphouse?

o A: No, I mean that if we were in the woods logging and cut deep ruts
Fa sometimes, I have saw a few brick there. It looked like where houses
' had been.

M: Would you be able to find those spots anymore?
A: No, ma'am, I wouldn't be able to.

M: Do you have any idea how much you actually logged around that area?
Would you say, maybe, a year or two or a few months?
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Well, I guess, a few months mostly, probably a year.

In what, about the middle of the 1930s?

All told, T guess . . . see, I logged the old Uithoven place. I went
there at different times, and I logged at the Simmons place. That was
where they said the little old town of Colbert was at one time. Then
I went back a few years later and hauled the logs off the old Uithoven
place.

How would you arrange that? Would you have a certain agreement with
the Uithovens to log off their place?

Well, I didn't. Mr. Seitz and them bought the timber.
I see, so they would delegate you to do the cutting.

No, this was after I had quit sawmilling, when I worked there. 1I was
logging, just logging wherever I could buy the timber.

By that time, you had your own equipment?

Yes, equipment.

Was old Dr. Uithoven still alive then?

No.

So, the lumber company was dealing with his children, I guess?
Yes.

What condition was the old Uithoven house in when you saw it?
It was in bad condition.

Nobody living in it?

Nobody living in it. You could come in at the doors or windows or
wherever you wanted to.

Do you remember if there was any front stoop on it at that time?

I think there was, but it was in bad shape.

Do you remember what outbuildings were there?

One little old smokehouse, I'd say, was right back of the house, east.
What I remember about it, was that it had worlds of those old~fashioned
telephones in it, They had them just piled in there, you know. I

guess a wagonload.

Oh, there were a lot of them?




773

Yeah, a lot of them. I don't know where they got them, but they piled
them in there, in the smokehouse back there. We called it the smokehouse.

That's strange. Somebody had a collection, huh?
They had a collection. (laughter)

At that time, was there a place called Cal Phillip's?
That's right.

Was that in Barton?

That was in Barton. He was running that business when I was at the
Uithoven place, when I was up there.

Was it a store?

Yes, ma'am:

Can you remember what the building looked like?

Well, yeah, but I don't know whether I can describe it or not.
Was it frame construction?

Yes, ma'am.

Do you have any idea how many rooms it had and what size they were? I
don't expect you to be accurate, but some general idea?

Well, I believe it had three rooms to the house, three or four. And
they had built this store building onto it. They had the store and
the house in the same building.

Was it a log house?
No, ma'am, it was a plank house.

When you say 'three rooms,'" would that be altogether?

Well, yeah, altogether, and then they just built the store onto it.
I believe it had two rooms.

Was it bigger than the house itself?

Yes, it added right smart to the house, and they sold gasoline, had
a gas pump. It was just a general store, mostly.

Was the house the old-fashioned style, with an open hall between rooms?
Do you think it was what is called a dogtrot house?

I don't believe it was. I don't know that it wasn't a log house. They
could have planked over it. It could have been a log house.
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Do you remember if the house had a porch across the Front?
A small porch on the north side of it.

When you say the "north side,” would that be, not across the front,
but at the side?

It was mostly to the side. Seems like the house was built facing
west and north, you know. It was built north and south, and the
porch was on the north side of the house, next to the road, of
course. The house was on the south side of the road.

Where was the store building in relationship to the road?

It was just the same like the house, except it was built on the west
end of the house.

Do you have any idea what the dimensions would be?
I sure don't. You're talking about how large?
Yes.

No, I sure don't.

You don't know if the house is twenty feet across or thirty feet?
Do you think it was a pretty big house?

Yeah, it was a pretty good-sized house. I'd say it would be thirty
feet across there.

Across the front of the house?

Across the front of the house.

And then maybe the sﬁore another twenty feet to the side?
Something like twenty feet to the side.

Do you recall if the house was deeper than it was wide across?
No.

Were you ever inside the house?

Yes, ma'am, I've been inside, but just a time or two. I don't re-
member so long ago.

You don't remember how deep the store was, going back?
No, I don't
Were the house and store fairly close to the road?

I would say within two hundred feet, or less.
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A: Yes, I knew some of the children.
1 M: Did you?
4
: A: I never knew their parents, but Mrs, Dawkins is one of the children.
M: Did the Atkins actually live in that house before Cal Phillips had it?
A: Well, now I wouldn't know that. I believe James Hendrix told me they
did. They lived there one time,
M: If we wanted to talk to any of the Atkins children, would you be able
to tell us how to get ahold of them?
A: Yes, ma'am.
M: 1If you know the children, could you tell me what their names are; do
- you recall offhand? Your wife said that one of the children is named
Irene Dawkins, is that right? And she lives near the air base? Do
e you remember anyone else from the family who might be contacted? (to
s wife) You can go ahead and speak; that's alrighe,
- VA: You know the boys better than I do.
A: I don't know; I know Irene Dawkins's boys, but they wouldn't know any-
thing about it.
M: Do you have any idea asbout what age Irene might be.
il coduin, — _ L
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M: And you say this whole thing was burned down?
A: Yes, ma'anm.
M: So what is left? The foundations?

A: The old chimney, 1 guess, and the foundation, brick pillars and
things.

M: But you have an idea that you could find that spot if you needed to?
A: I believe I could.

M: If we had to have someone identify it for us, would you be willing
to go out there, when it is nicer weather, and have a look around?

A: Yes, ma'am.

M: I appreciate that. It might not be necessary, but if so, it's good
to know that you remember it. And that house earlier was called the
Atkins houge, wasn't it?

A: I believe that's right, the Atkins place.

M: You never knew the Atkins, did you?
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She's older than I am.

Seventy-five, I think.

So she would have quite a good memory, I expect.

She should.

Do you think she is the only one you can recall at the moment?
Yes, ma'am. That would be the only one I'd really know.

There were a couple of other questions that I wanted to ask you about
wood. When you were lumbering, were those virgin stands of lumber?

Several of them were.
What kinds of wood would you get in virgin stands?
Pine, cypress, and well, I'd really say oak.

Was the wood you got down around the Barton, Colbert, and Vinton
areas in virgin stands?

No, ma'am, they had been cut off.

Do you remember what areas you could find virgin timber in?

No, really and truly, I guess, none of it was virgin. We called it
virgin because it had been so long since it had been cut that we didan't
know anything about when it had been cut. But, I guess, that would be
hard to find where it had never been cut.

So you're not sure that you ever cut original timber?

No, I'm not really sure that I ever cut virgin timber, except may-~

be a few trees around in it. Some of the trees would be so big that
they would be left, you know, when they would go over before, and

they would just keep on growing.

So, you reslly had some very big trees that you had to cut?

I had some very big trees.

Can you estimate the size of some of them?

Well, I've cut where one tree would have twenty-five hundred board
feeat.

About what would be the diameter near the base of a tree like that?

Well, up at the scale end of it, it would be four feet in diameter or
a littler better.
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M: When you say "'scale end," what do you mean?
A: You scale the small end.

{ M: Oh, so that would be way up the tree?

' A: Yeah. Well, it depends on how long the log was, a twelve or a
{ sixteen foot length, or whatever you cut.

M: I see. So down at the other end it would be considerably bigger,
wouldn't {it?

e e

A: Oh, sure.

M: Would you think maybe six or eight feet in diameter sometimes?

A: Well, I believe I've cut them over six feet.

M: That's a big tree to get out of the woods, isn't it?

A: That's a big tree.

1 M: Could mules move a tree like that?

A: No, ma'am, that's how come they were there. The mules and things

couldn't get them out. So after they got the bulldozers and the

skidders, when the timber got scarce, they quit leaving any of it.
b They'd get it all.

s

M: But you mean, then, earlier you would have to leave them when they
were. that big?

A: Oh, sure.
M: You'd leave the lower portion in the woods?
A: We'd leave the tree,

M: Oh, I see. S0, when you didn't have that kind of equipment, you
weren't cutting them either?

A: No.

;;f M: Do you recall any floating of lugs down the river?

A: No, ma'am, I don't, but ir was donme. In other words, I have found
some old signs and some of the stuff they said was used in floating
logs down the river.

M: That was before your time in that area?
A: Yes. Down at Vicksburg, when I was sawmilling down there, we cut

some big cypress, got it out of the. . . . It was already in an old
raft they claimed had been in the Civil War. It had lodged in there.

e e e e me e e -
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You mean you pulled it out of the mud?

Pulled it up out of the mud. A man wanted boat lumber made out of

it. We sawed it up, but it was put together with wooden pegs, and

them holes would jump out when we got through sawing it. So it was
no good.

You mean where the pegs had been?
Yes, ma'am.
It was that much pegged that you couldn't use it?

Not for boats. He wanted boats made out of it, and he couldn't
use it.

And it had been used in the Civil War?

That's what they said. A little old raft had lodged in there, and
they just went off and left it where it came through at Steel Bayou,
out of Eagle Lake.

Did you ever pull any other old logs out of the mud?

Yeah, up here on the Banks place, the Corinth Lumber Comwpany had cut

a lot of logs in there, and their time had run out. They made them
leave those logs. A log under the water will last for years and years,
especially cypress. So we got quite a bit out of them lakes, those
sioughs, that had been cut down and were still good.

Would you have to let them dry out good before you could cut them?
No.
No? You cut them while they were still damp?

Yeah, cut them while they were wet. Saw them up just when we could
get them out.

1f I was to say to you, "What is a logrolling?" what would you say?

A logroliing? Well, I remember when I was a very small child up in
Alabama, they had a few of them. A logrolling is where they want to
clear this land for farmers to grow food on. A bunch of men would
just go in there, enough of them to get around those logs, pick them
up and tote them. They'd cut them short enough so that they could
tote them. And they'd tote them, pile them up, start a fire, and
burn them. Then they started cutting the big timber. That's how a
big portion of the timber left this country, in the logrolling, burn-
ing down where they had to have places to grow food. It would be
burned up. They had to have a place to grow some food.

Would that often be a community venture?

—— - - - m e — —— Y
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That's right. Several of them would get together. They would clear
this man a field, and then this one a field. They would have to have
quite a few men together to, you know, to tote those logs. I don't
know, whether they knew that a mule could pull a log or not. (laughter)
They didn't act like it., They'd tote them theirselves, pile them up,
and burn them,

You never saw that yourself but you've heard about it, is that right?
That's right, I remember my father going to them.

So, you were just a youngster, but you know that your father was doing
it.

Yes.

I see. Well, I really didn't ask you about where Cal Phillips came
from. Maybe you'd want to tell me that?

In 1930, when I came to Clay County, he lived about two miles above
the ferry, in a place known as the Cook place.

This is above Waverly ferry?

Above Waverly ferry., Now it's the Campbell Gravel Company; it was.
Of course, the government has taken it for the Tombigbee Waterway,
now. But he lived there; he was selling timber several years before
he purchased that place up at Barton's Ferry and started his store.

Did you ever go into that store for supplies, when you were working
out in the field? Did he furnish food suppliesg?

Yeah, you could buy food and stuff in there, cigarettes and food.
And would you use his gas station for some of your equipment?
Occasionally, yes.

I really didn't ask you about the equipment that you used for your
lumbering operation. Was it large power equipment?

Well, when we first started in the lumbering business, we just had
horses and mules. Later on then we got caterpillars and log loaders.

When would you have changed over?

Well, it was several years later.

Was it after the Second World War?

Oh, yes, it was after the Second World War.

Were you using the mules and horses all through the Depression period?
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Yes, ma'am, and then plumb up to the Second World War. We started
sawmilling just before World War II when they were having the reg-
istration for the drafts and so on.

Did the war affect your operation?

Well, it took some of the young men, but of course, it didn't really
affect our operation because there was plenty of labor at that time.
Everybody wanted to work.

I wondered if it also affected you insofar as what you needed to sup-
ply was concerned. Were you told that you needed to supply certain
kinds of lumber for certain purposes, or did you just do as you had
been doing?

Well, now Mr. Seitz of the Seitz Lumber Company saw after that. They
would have those orders and things, and they would separate all of
this stuff as we carried it into the lumbering company.

I suppose that the demand for lumber went up at that time, didn't it?
Continually.

I'd like to ask you a few more questions about wood because you seem
to have some other kinds of wood around your house than we have talked
about. You mentioned mulberry. Did you sometimes cut mulberry in the
woods?

Yes.

Where would you find it?

Just in the woods like any other tree, but it was just a rare species,
you see. Every once and awhile you'd find one.

Would that just be growing wild?
Nobody planted it.
Would you find that one on the sandy soil?

Mostly, yes. The cherry and the mulberry mostly grows in sandy soil--
especially mulberry.

What are the qualities of those woods?
Well, it is a hard timber.
Both of them?

Yeah, both of them are hard when the lumber is dry. It is hard tex-
ture.

What about color?
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Well, it's a beautiful color. They make furniture, just like we made
that china cabinet.
Would they both turn red?

Yeah. Now, there's that old gun case right there behind you. It is
mulberry.

Would they be red when you originally cut them?

Yes, ma'am, but when the sun hits them, they look like they lighten
up, but after they dry out, it seems like the color begins to come
back to them.

Is cherry dark when you cut it?

Well, that's what I was talking about, mulberry and cherry. We don't
have much walnut and holly here either.

Did you cut those sometimes, too?

Yes, I cut them.

Would they be marketed?

Yes, 1'd market them just like you do the rest of them. Walnut is
one of the most expensive timbers you can buy. In days gone by, they
tell me, there had been quite a bit of walnut in this country.

Oh, really? 1In the virgin timber?

Virgin timber.

But you never saw any of those, in virgin stands?

No, well no, I wouldn't say that I actually saw the virgin; I saw
some mighty big old trees. But they would be the scrubby omes that
were left. You know, you just don't get everv tree. You miss them

all along, just like you do when you go fishing, you don't catch
every fish in the creek.

When you got a tree that was special like a cherry, or a mulberry, or
walnut, would you keep that separate and market it separate?

Well, now we'd ship it. Only if I decided that I wanted some of the
lumber, then I would get that out. I'd keep that lumber until it
dried, and then I'd have it dressed.

So sometimes you'd keep it for your own purposes?

Yes.

But when you sent it to Seitz lumberyard . . . ?
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It just went, just like the rest of it.
And so the price that you'd get would be along with the rest?
Along with the rest.

And the people at the lumberyard wouldn't even realize that they had
a special piece there?

Well, I suppose they would realize. The labor didn't, but of course,
the Seitz Lumber Company knew. You see, they got orders for lumber
from all over the world.

What I'm wondering is, would those logs be grouped all with the rest?
No, no. See they would separate this lumber at the lumberyard. Wwhen
they'd get an order for walnut or cedar or whatever it is they had
collected enough of this rare species until they would have enough to
fill the order. Then they would ship it out.

How was the lumber identified? Was the man at the lumberyard skilled
enough in identifying wood that when he got a log he knew what he had?

Sure, he knew every log in the woods, was supposed to. If he didn't,
he wasn't supposed to be a lumberman.

So you never had to tell him what you were bringing?
I never had to tell him. Of course, I always knew what I was bring-
ing because I knew enough about it to know what it was. And he did,

too. I knew what it was before it was cut down.

What about the size of trees? Would you find that certain species
were consistently smaller logs?

Oh, yes. You never did find too big a mulberry and not too big a
cherry. Now I have cut some sassafras, what they called sassafras
timber.

Would that get big, too?

It'1l get big enough to sawmill, but it never did get big timber like
oak and pine.

What would that be used for?

Just lumber, I reckon. See, when you're building a house, if you're
siding the stuff and using it on decking and everything to put a roof
on, any kind of lumber will do.

When you're out in the woods cutting, would you ever depend on some
of the plants in the woods for supplementing your lunches?

No, ma'am.
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You didn't pick berries in the woods?

No, ma'am. We always carried our lunch. Of course, if we passed
blackberries or something like that, we would eat a handful of them.
Now, there is one bush in the wood that we'd go and gather a lot of
it, when we were able. And that's huckleberries.

Oh, you had huckleberries around here?

Of course, they grow mostly up in Alabama. In any sandy and clay
hills, you'll find huckleberries.

I1've gathered huckleberries, too. (laughter)

Well, you know then that they're just like blueberries, except the
huckleberry 1s the original, and it's got a much better flavor.

Are they a darker color than the blueberry?

Well, I wouldn't say they're darker; they're not as large as a blue-
berry, but they are so much better flavored.

Did you ever gather mushrooms?

Well, I was always afraid of them. I never would eat mushrooms,
Did you ever have any trouble with snakes in the woods?

Oh sure, you had to watch for them everyday.

Do you remember any particular experience with snakes?

Well, I never was bit by none of them, but I've killed some mighty
big rattlesnakes.

Did any of your men ever get bitten?

No, we never did get bitten. Some of them have run some very narrow
risks. Most people in the woods, those timbermen, watched for those
things.

Did you ever cut timber when there was snow on the ground or when it
was very, very cold?

I remember a time or two when we would have to quit. When the timber
would get frozen, you can't cut it. When I'd get too cold, we'd just
have to quit. But this country really don't get like that too much.

0f course, I saw it once here thirteen below zero. The Tombigbee River

froze over.
Do you remember what year that was?

It was 1940. We had snow thirteen inches deep.
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M: Are mulberry and cherry woods gone now?

A: Yes, ma'am, it's a wood that's almost gone, except in bushes. The
old original is all gone. That kind of timber takes so long to grow.
I guess the tree that cabinet was made out of was probably two hun-
dred years old. You can't tell, you see.

M: Oak takes a long time, too, doesn't 1it?
A: Well, oak will grow fairly good.
M: Does it?

A: Not too good. I've got some good timber that was cut in 1950, and
it has grown up, it's real nice and that's about thirty years, isn't
it? When you are going through cutting oak, if you cut it too small,
it takes it fifteen years to begin to get up size enough to really
start growing. The best I remember, it takes a pine tree about
seventy years to make a real good tree. You see, they got to
come up thick; the weak will die out and the strong will get taller.
Now as far as 1 am concerned, this Weyerhaeuser timber will never
make a plank.

M: Is that right?

A: See, they plant it spaced out and it grows up with limbs from the {
ground to the top. 1It's bushy and it will always be so knotty that
you can't use it for lumber. If that pine was broadcast, it would
take it longer to grow. If those seeds were broadcast and then came
up, they'd grow up spindly, make a long, tall tree, and of course,
they would die out where they are too thick. That's why it takes so :
long to make a big tree. 3But then the lumber will be good in that ‘
kind of tree., It will be clear of knots.

M: So by spacing it in even spaces they're defeating the purpose of get-
ting a good piece of lumber out of that?

A: That's my belief about it, You see, the limbs start on it from the
ground up. Those knots, as the limbs rot off or get broke or some-
thing, that'll heal up and go into that tree, you see. It'll be in
that tree as long as it is a tree.

M: The knot will always be there?

A: That's right.

M: Will it also get sort of dark and sort of rotten in that knot?

A: Well, pine really doesn't get rotten. Not necessarily, it will heal
over and grow up solid. Of course, after those trees get big, if a
big limb gets broke off, it'll probably rot in the tree a piece. And
those don't ever heal over if they are too large, but 1'm talking about
when those little trees are planted. I don't believe they'll ever make
a tree for lumber. But you see, they grind them up; it doesn't make
any difference to them.
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Oh, so you figure they're planting these trees not for lumber but
for pulp?
That's right, pulp. And I guess, they'll get big enough; they prob-
ably are now. They press this sawdust together and make a lot of
different stuff, cardboard, beaverboard, so on and so forth. I don't
know the names of it all, but anyway that's what they make it out of.
You gee, they use everything now but the bark. I believe they use
the bark in some of those flowers, you know.
It's a mulch.

For mulching around the flower plants.

They use everything now, where we used to burn it up. That's what
I was telling you about, when we had the little mill.

Did you do that periodically? Would you have certain spots where
you would collect your waste and just burn it?

Yeah, right there at the mill. We had to burn it there at the mill.
See, it would get in the way until we couldn't work.

How often would you be moving your mill from one place to another?

Oh, sometimes we would set in a place for not over six months, some-
times for a year or two, depending on how much timber we had there.

Someone told me about playing in trees when they were little. Did
you ever see kids play in trees and bend the trees way over?

Oh sure, I saw children play in them and bend them over.

Did they have to use a certain kind of tree for that?

Well, no. Of course, some trees would grow brickly, wouldn't bend
good. But a gum, hickory, or anything. A pine you didn't do it
with that; the tops would break out. It was a soft timber and the
tops would break out. But any kind of hardwood you could bend over
and play with 1it.

Did you ever do that when you were a kid?

Yes, ma'am, I've done that lots of times.

Was that kind of common for kids to get in the trees and swing the
tops around?

Sure, it was because they didn't have television to watch then, and
radio and things to listen at. They had to make their own recreation.

Would you ever swing the tree right down to the ground?

L o r——t——— —————
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Sure. Maybe sometimes it would take two. There would have to be two
climbing 1t before you could bend it over.
(laughter)
You see, they didn't. . . . It would just be a small sapling. You
see, children didn't have parks to play in, only in the big cities.
Of course, they never got to see the big cities.
So, this was common for kids to get into trees and swing around?
Sure. And get up on the hillsides on old planks and things and
slide down, make little old wagons and ride down, and so on. They
had to make their own recreation.
What about little horses? Would you have stick horses?
Well, yeah. I remember when I was real small, my father bought me
and my brother a little rocking horse. That was the first one I had
aver saw. But they'd play all kinds of games and everything like
that.

1 was thinking of those hobby horses that kids made out of branches.
Did you ever do that?

Oh, I saw kids get straddle of a stick, run with it and act like it
was a horse. They do that yet, sometimes.

At Christmastime, do you remember anything special about how you
celebrated Christmas? Of course, you were in Alabama but they might
have done the same things that they did over here.

Oh, sure.

Did you ever hear of them doing anything like they called serenading?
Yeah, 1 have heard of that. I never was in none of it much but. . . .
But you know what it was about?

When a new family would move in a community, what used to be very
common, they would do what was called "serenading" them. That was
the way they had of trying to show their appreciation and their
welcome. But now, you see somebody would get shot because folk don't
believe. All of that has left the country.

So, this wasn't necessarily connected with Christmas. It was just
when somebody moved in?

That's right, when somebody moved in.
Would there be a lot of noise making with it?

Oh, sure. Beating old plows, ringing cowbells and everything. (laughter)
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When you were little, did you ever hang up your stocking for Christ-
mas?
Yeah, I hung up my stocking. (laughter) I'd find something in it
the next morning. Apple, maybe a plece of candy, an orange but that
was about that.
That was about the extent of Christmag?

That was about the extent of Christmas.

Well, I think that I have pretty well covered it. Can you think of
anything else that occurs to you?

No, not really.

I think you've done a good job, and I really appreciate it. On behalf
of the Project and myself I thank you a lot.

Well, of course, I would like to be a help. I just want to tell the
truth, tell it just like it was.

I know you have, and every little piece of information does help us.
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THTP - Oral History Interview OH 124
An interview with
Jennie Mae Lenoir

conducted and edited by
James M. McClurken

Jennie Lenoir was born in the community of Waverly, Mississippi on
January 27, 1904. In 1923 she married and moved to her husband's home
at Vinton. She was the daughter of a farmer and is a farmer's wife.
Much of the interview deals with farming and the responsibilities of
farm life. She also relates the history of Shady Grove Church and
provides insight on the importance of the church in the community. She
digcusses the celebration of holidays and tells of the kinds of enter-
tainment available in the community.

The interview with Mrg. Lenoir was conducted in her home by James
McClurken on February 19, 1980.
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This is an interview with Mrs. Jennie Mae Lenoir for the Tombigbee
Historic Townsites Project by James M. McClurken. The interview is
taking place at her home on February 19, 1980. Mrs. Lenoir's address
is Route 2, Box 238, West Point, Mississippi 39773. Her telephone
number 18 494-1506.

Mrs. Lenoir, can we start this off by my asking you when you were
born?

I was born January 27, 1904.
Were you born here?

I was born here in the Waverly community, and I lived in the Waverly
community for nineteen vears. I got married when I was nineteen
years old, and moved over to the Town Creek community. We lived
over there for about fourteen years, I think. That's where I began
my family at. Me and my husband, now we lived happily. He was
always the man of the house, and I was the lady of the house. He
made provisions from the outside, and I have taken care of all the
inside, preparing meals everyday, and on and on.

Well, we began to start our family. We got married on February 25,
1923. On February 27, 1924, my first child was born. On August 15
of the next year, my second child waz born, and my third child was
born in 1927. The next one, a son, was born in 1929. My younger
daughter was born in 1931, and my baby, another son, was born in
1933.

We always had a Christian home, had a happy home, a lovely home, and
we reared our children together. We all were church folks. I came
to church at an early age. My mother carried me to Sunday school
and church when I was large enough to remember, and so that part of
my life is still there. We have taken our children to Sunday school
and church, and we sent them to school as far as we were able to
gend them.

At first it was a walkway to school. There weren't buses for the
black children then, regardless of the distance. They had to walk
one, two, three, four miles, or maybe farther. I was lucky to not
be quite so far from the school. The children went to school. My
first son finished the tenth grade, then the army called him, He
went into service for three years. My older daughter finished the
eleventh grade and then got married. The third son finished eighth
grade and didn't want to go to school any farther. The fourth son
finished the twelfth grade and got married. My youngest daughter
finished twelfth grade and lacked a few hours of finishing four
years of college. She got two years of college at Mary Holmes and
got the other at Holly Springs. When she lacked just a few hours of
finishing, she got married to a serviceman. They began to travel




and so life was very beautiful. I will have been married for
fifty-seven years next Monday which is the 25th of this month.

Congratulations.

Thank you. Me and my husband have lived happily. We are always
with the Lord's help. We always were able to provide food and
clothes for the children. He never let us get hungry; we haven't
ever been hungry in our lives. I counted it as a blessing. I have
a loving husband, he's a wonderful husband and I would call him a
generous father. He loved all of the children, and the children all
loved him., We've just been one happy family.

What's your first memory in childhood? What's the very first thing
that you can recall?

The first thing that I can recall in childhood is my mother taking
me to church. That was my first remembrance in childhood.

What church did she take you to?

Shady Grove at Waverly. It's north of Highway 50, on the old Waverly
Road that leads to the community center. There's a road that turns
left off Highway 50 and goes on around. Some houses are built all
along that road there, and the church is right up on a hill.

Did she carry you to church?

Yes, my mother carried me to church, and that's the first thing I
can remember. I remember one other thing that happened. I had two
brothers., My father had a real gentle horse, and the brother tied
the horse to a peach tree we had sitting in the yard. My brother
tied the horse too long with the rope, and it got tangled up in the
rope. Oh, he was about to kill himself or something. A strange man
was passing along on the road. He stopped his horse and buggy, and
he jumped out, ran there, cut that rope, and freed the horse from
his struggle.

Do you remember what your house looked like, the one that you lived
in when you were a wee young child?

Yes, I do., The house where I was born was two rooms with a dirt
hallway between them. (laughter) You know, it didn't have a plank
floor. There was a room sitting over here and one over yonder and
the vacant hall was in between.

Was it made of logs?
I don't remember whether {t was made of logs or not now, but it
seems to me like one of the rooms was log. I can't just altogether

remember that. (laughter)

How long did you live there before you moved to this town?




We lived there for three years; my father lived there for three
years. Then he moved just across the line to the road onto this
same place where this mansion 18, but it was up the road near this
church I was telling you about., I lived there until I was married.
That was about seventeen years. (laughter)

Do you remembe - more about that house?
Yes.
I'm curious to know what kind of furniture you had in your house.

Well, the furniture it was made, then. I mean, the headboard was
high and flat on top. It just had a little, narrow, strip, you
know, on top and also at the foot.

Was it a fancy bed?

Oh, yes. In this time it would be called fancy, and of course, I
have the dresser yet that was with some of that furniture.

Did you have a kitchen table and chairs, too?

Yes, we had the kitchen table and chairs, too. My mother said that
her mother gave that table to her when she got married. My mother
was reared at this table, and she reared her three children at that
table. My younger brother passed kind of early in life and left
three children. Mother reared those three children at that table.
When she passed, and my father turned things go, he let me have the
table. I cherish it very nuch, but did not have room here for it
where I could care for it. I have taken 1t to the church. We have
a dining area in the back of the church, and so I taken it there.

I get a chance to see it every Sunday. It has the little marble
coasters on it. You could roll {it about, you know. It's one of the
choice pieces next to my heart.

Did you have a separate sitting room in the house?

Well, ves, of course we sat in the bedrooms, then. It wasn't a den
or a living room as it is, now.

How many rooms did this house have?

This house had three rooms. It had two bedrooms, a hallway between
them, and a large kitchen,

Was this house made out of log?
No, it was made out of plank.
Was it up off of the ground?

Yes, it was up off of the ground, the hallway didn't have the dirt
floor like the one where I was born at.
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Did it have a sleeping loft upstairs?
No, no upstairs.
What kind of pans did your mother cook in?

Well, they had the old original iron pot, the iron frying pans, and
their bread pans as they called them. I don't know whether they
were made out of steel or tin, but they were black pans. They
called them biscuit pans and corn bread pans.

Did she cook on a stove or over a fireplace?

On the stove. I haven't ever cooked over the fireplace. No, I
don't think I could have made it so well over that. (laughter) We
were always fortunate enough to have a stove., We cooked in the
stove, bake bread.

Did your mother ever tell you any stories about when she was a girl
growing up?

Yes, she would tell us stories, but I have just about forgotten all
of them. (laughter)

Are there any that you'd like to preserve for your children?

Well, the children of this day, they call that too far back. They
don't even like to even mention the things that happened on their
way up, because they hated farm life so bad.

Was your daddy a farmer?
Yes, he was a farmer.
What were your mother's and dad's nanes?

My father was named Robert Warren and my mother was named Parolee
Warren, Parolee Ferguson Warren.

Did you farm here in the Waverly community?

Yes, I was born and reared around in the Waverly community. So,
these two churches. . . .+ Mt. Pisgah Church, right here as you

come off Highway 50, used to sit back on the Waverly Sandy~land

Road by Mr. Ivy's house, That is a road coming from West Point into
the Waverly community. Then, Young's Chapel, a Methodist church,
sat below this last house. You might could see it by looking into
the bushes.

Do you rtremember brush arbors?
No, I don't remember the brush arbors. I heard my mother and grand-

mother talk about it. They would talk about the brush arbors but I
never witnessed them.
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Was your grandmother alive when you were a girl?

Yes, she was; she lived. She died about one month before I got
married, but she lived in the Delta section. She didn't live up
here. She had moved from here before I was born, and they went to
the Delta. Down about Ittabena in the Delta.

Your grandmother must have been alive during slave times.

Well, I'm sure she was, Of course, she didn't ever talk about
slavery times.

Was she from the Waverly area before she moved to the Delta?

No. Her home was in Pickensville, Alabama. They moved from there

over into Lowndes County by Cedar Grove Church, up there above the

air base. They lived there for awhile, and then she said they moved

over to the upper area up here by Union Star, to the community they >
called Major's Quarter. I think they said that Major Young was

related to the ones who owned this mansion place, and they moved up

there on his farm for awhile. I don't know just how long. That's

where my mother said she got married. '

Did she talk about her courtship any? How your mother and father
courted each other?

No, well, no, not too much. My father was a right smart older than
she was, and she was his second wife., His first wife had passed,
and didn't ever say anything much about their courting 1life.

How did you meet your husband?

I met him at church. I was a church-goer, a member of the church.
I loved the church, and so did he. As boys would do then, they
would go to other churches looking for the girls. I met him at
church.

How long did he have to court you before you decided that you wanted
to marry him?

We went together for about two years because parents in those days
weren't like the parents are now. The girl had to be sixteen before
she could have company. When the girl becanme sixteen, they would
usually give her a birthday party and give the boys privilege to
come to see her. I met him in March and we began going together.

What did you do when you were courting? Did you go visit towns?
Well, no, mostly we visited churches. That's where we'd usually go.
They used to have ball games, and dinners on certain holidays and
things like that, on the Eighth of May and Fourth of July.

What's special about the Eighth of May? What holiday is that?
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Well, it was proclaimed as when we first got our freedom word from
slavery, so that was called the National Negro Holiday. So they
celebrated it. History proclaimed that we were freed in January,
but they didn't let it be known to us until the Eighth of May.

Did everybody down here have a big celebration?

Yes, we had a big celebration.

I bet your grandmother was real happy on that day.

Oh, yes. They were very happy, happy.

What kind of things did you do at your celebration?

Oh, they would have drum beating, ball games, and the people that
liked to would dance. They would just have a big celebration.

You said beating the drum. What kind of drum did they play?

I don't know. They called them the bass drums. They were great big
drums, and you could hear them for miles. They called them bass
drums; I don't know what kind they were.

Did the men play them?

Yes. One man would play the big drum, and they had one they called
the kettle drum. One nan would play the big drum and one would play
the little one.

What kind of things did they play with it? What kind of music?
Well, I wouldn't know what kind of music they were playing.

But it was good to dance to?

Oh, yes. Just the sound, you know, that's the most that any of them
go for, the sound of it. Now they watch television to get the sound
nf music.

So do they -still celebrate the Eighth of May here?

Well no, not now. They have just about let that passed. It seems
just like any other day, now. The older people who cherished the day
are mostly gone, and the younger people have got to the place where
they can celebrate any day they want to. (laughter) All of them
are celebration days with the 'ounger people.

But you had to work everyday when vou were growing up?

Well, I was fifteen years old when I went to work in the field.

Before that, my father always left me at the house to take care of
the housework.
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And your brothers went out to the field?

Yes, he, my mother, and my brothers went out to the field and left
me at the house to take care of the house, to do the housecleaning,
the cooking, and the seeing after the chickens and the turkeys and
watering the hogs, and all of the things like that.

What time in the morning did your daddy and brothers get up to go
out to work in the fields?

Oh, sometimes at about six o'clock, seven at the latest.

Did you have to get up and cook them a big breakfast before they
went out?

Well, my mother would always cook the hreakfast. She wo.'d get up
and cook the breakfast before they went out,

Did you have to wash the clothes?

Yes, when I got large enough, I would wash their clothes and do
their ironing. ’

Did your mother work in the fields, too?
Yes, she worked in the field, too.
Where did you do your wash?

Well, we had a well in the yard that they called a cistern well.
You draw water with a bucket on a windlass.,

Did you have a wooden bucket on the end of your rope?

Yes, had a wooden bucket on the end of the rope.

Did that have a metal handle on it?

Yes, it had a metal handle. We also had washpots. That's where we
heat our water. At first it was a wooden tub, They would :ake
these big sixty-gallon molasses barrels, saw that in two, and make
two tubs out of it. There were some men through the country who
could make washboards. They would take a plece of plank and a
chisel, and they would cut grooves in the plank. That's what we
washed on.

So you had a handmade washboard?

Yes.

Did you use homemade soap, too?

Yes, my mother used to make soap, and I've used homemade soap.

—— —— ————a w
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Through the winter, my father would usually burn hickory wood and
some oak. They claim that they made the strongest ashee. My mother
would save those ashes through the winter, and in the spring, she
would take a old cotton basket, and my father would build her a
little stand to sit this basket on. She would put some hay in the
bottom of the basket, put the ashes on top of this hay, and then she
would pour water in there. When that water went through these
ashes, the lye drained out. She'd sit a tub under the scaffold that
the basket was on, and this water would go through those ashes and
drip down into that tub. It would be kind of red or look kind of
like vinegar, but it would be strong, strong as the devil. Lye {is
strong. (laughter) She would take this lye and put it iu her
washpot. All through the winter when she be cooking, she would save
all the waste fat and stuff that she had. She'd have buckets to
preserve it in. She would take that fat, put it in that lye, put a
fire around it, and cook it. When it cooked down to a certain
consistency, it'll be soap.

Did you\use that soap for washing?

Yes.

Yourself as well as the clothes?

Well, no. No, we didn't use it for baths. We would buy a bar of
soap for a bath. The names were P & G, Octavian, and I can't
remember the other kind. (laughter)

Did you take your bath in the house?

Yes.

All year long?

Yes, in the house, in the kitchen. You just bring a tub in the
kitchen, heat your water on the stove, put it in the tub and take
your bath.

Did anybody have a bathtub back in those days?

No, if they did, I didn't know it. (laughter)

That was a big luxury, huh?

Yes.

Did your mother ever make cloth? Did she ever spin?

No, she didn't ever spin.

Would your grandmother remember that maybe?

Well, my grandmother said that she used to spin some. Her mother,
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my great-grandmother, was a spinner. My grandmother said that she
would help her sometimes.

Did she ever describe the wheel that she used?

—— err ot

Yes, they said it was a big, old, round wheel. It was something
like a wagon wheel, and it had a crank on it someway that you would
turn it and I can't. . . .

That was a long time ago?

Yes, that was a long time ago, and I can't just tell how she said
it.

When you got married, did you have to leave your home community?

Yes, I left my home community and went there to my husband's com- !
munity. !
What was it like making the move to Town Creek community?

Well, I didn't think much of it at first., I didn't know the people,
only his family. I knew a few more people who lived kind of a
distance, but it was just nothing like home. But I soon got
adjusted, and the main point of it was that I was wich him. That
was the happiest part of it all.

Can you describe the house that you moved into?

Yes, it was just like the one that I moved out of only it had a
little more room. It had three rooms, a dining room and a kitchen.

Oh, so it was a house with an open hallway in between?
No, this hall closed.

And then you had a room off each one of the big rooms?
That's right.

Now, were the rooms in the back of the house or on the side of the
house?

Well, two were on the front, and the others were on the back.
Was the house up off of the ground?

Yes, it was up off the ground.

Could you tell me where it sat?

Well, do you know where London Chapel Church is sitting, up on the
hill where you go to Mrs. Shirley's? Well, it was right down behind

—————— — - - - — — . - ——
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the church. It's just a short distance down that road by London
Chapel.

All the way to the end of the road?

Well, not quite to the end of the road. When you go down this road
behind London Chapel, you go up a little hill., Then you go down
this little hill and across another little valley. Right up on top
of the next hill, right there to the left, that's where it sits. It
had some crepe-iron trees in the yard.

Was it an old house when you moved into 1is?

Well, yes. It was my husband's family home. All of them were born
there, I think, born and reared there.

Did his father build the house?

Yes.

What was his father's name?

He was named Professor Andrew Lenoir. He was a schoolteacher.
What pe-ple did you meet when you first moved in there?

Well, I met the Shirley family and the Daugherty family. That was
ny husband's older brother's wife's family.

Who 1s Mr. Daugherty?
That was Andrew Lenoir's wife's family.
Did they live back by you?

Well, they lived down by Town Creek. That was a short distance
then, you know, because people didn't mind walking.

Did he live down on the Zack Ellis's place?

No, he lived joining the Zack Ellis's place. The Daughertys owned
their home down there, then. The Ellis place was joining the
Daugherty place.

I see.

Do you know a man who lives right up from Town Creek Church named
Mr. Easter. Right where his house is, that's where the Daughertys
used to live.

Did you know lir. Larry Keaton?

Yes, I knew him after I got married.

S
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Was he an old man when you got married?

Yes, he was.

Where did he live?

Well, he lived on up that Barton Ferry Road east of Mr. Homer
Tumlinson, way up on the corner they called the “"four fork,"” then.
It goes straight on by Town Creek Church and on up the road it turns
to go back to West Point. Well, he lived in the house sitting right
on this corner where you turn to go to West Point.

So he didn’'t live down by the church community?

No, he didn't live down there.

Did you know any of the Trotters?

I knew one nan, but they lived out in another community.

What comnunity was it?

In Concob community, back up in that way.

Did you know Miss Lucy Natcher?

Yes, I did. I knew her from when I was a little child. She nursed
the invalid of the Watson's. She used to ride down the road to
Waverly in a buggy with him. She'd stop many a day at our house to
get fresh water for him to drink.

What was she like? Do you remember her?

Just that she was a fair looking lady.

You didn't pay much attention to her when you were a girl?

No. She was still living and nursing this man when I got married.

Yeah? Did you ever run into her and have her recognize you after
you got married?

Yeah, she recognized me.

Did you know Mr. Jesse Dukeminier?

Yes, I knew Mr, Jesse Dukeminier.

Did he live down by you?

Well, he lived there for a short while, No, I don't think he lived

down there, but he owned a farm just down at Town Creek where Mr,
Homer Tumlinson lives., He used to own that in there. I know that
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my husband lost a mule once, and our landlord contacted him about a
mule. He had one that he sold my husband.

M: Yeah, did you know Mr. Cox?
L: Cox? No. Where did he live?

M: I know that he owned land just south of the land that you and your
husband lived on, but I don't know who he is.

L: I don't know either, but they called that place Cox's. I don't know
why; I never did go into it., When everybody spoke of that place
over there, they say, “down on Cox's,” but I didn't know him.

M: How about Mr. March Montgomery?

L: March Montgomery, I've known him from a little kid, too, because my
father. . . . His parents died when he was very small., He was kind
of an orphan, living from place to place. He said that March
Montgomery's oldest daughter wasn't married, and she was keeping
house for him. She was milking cows, and she would give them milk
and butter.

M: Did he live down by you when you were up at Town Creek community?

L: No., He passed before I got married. That's Peter Montgomery's
father. Peter Montgomery and my husband are first cousins.

I see.

They are two sisters’ children. March Montgomery married my husband's
mother's sister.

Did you know Mr. Summer Moore?
Yes, I knew him.
Can you tell me a little bit about him?

Well, only that he was a very friendly man., He was what I would :
call it our "fun~box" for the commuaity. (laughter)

What's that? Did he sing?

Yes, he would sing, tell a lot of different funny jokes, and one
thing and another like that.

What kind of songs did he sing?
Well; he would sing spiritual songs.

Were they church songs?

—e—— —— = - 2 m————— .
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Yes, he'd sing spiritual songs. They were those old songs that
always sounds good.

Where did you have your get togethers when he'd come and sing for
you? Did he just sing in the street?

Oh, he would just be around sometimes. We would have Thanksgiving
dinners at the church or something, and he would come by. He was a
churchman, too.

What about Mr. Joe Harris?

Joe Harris, well I just knew Mr, Joe Harris to be just Mr. Joe
Harris. (laughter) Yes, I know him, but I don't know of anything
he did.

I wanted to ask you where Summer Moore lived?

Summer Moore lived up there in the Vinton community. He was a
caretaker of Henry Watson's camp. He lived back up in there near

the camp.

Now can you tell me a little more exactly where he lived? Did he
live to the west or north of Henry Watson's camphouse?

I can't place now where that house was, but it was kind of up on the
hill from the camphouse. : .

Was it an old house or was {t something that he had built?

I ain't sure, but I think Mr. Watson had it built for him.

Did he work for Mr., Watson?

That's right.

What was Mr. Watson like?

Oh, he was a fine man.

Did he raise a lot of crops there?

Yes. My husband was telling you about this whole farm line dowm
there where the Watsor place joins this other place you were asking
him about. That's the :lutchinson place or something. Anyway,
Watson's land joined this Hutchinson place, and it came back south.
It's south of it. It's in the bottom. The Willis Branch runs
through there. Mr. Watson had land all back there, He owned out in
front of Mrs. Shirley, and it went clean on back to the river back
in there.

What kind of crops did he keer?
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Cotton was his favorite in those times, cotton and corn.

Did he ever raise any vegetables or were the vegetables all raised
in gardens by houses?

No, he didn't raise any vegetables. Each family that desired vege-
tables raised their own vegetables.

Were the women responsible for the vegetable gardens?

Well, both. The man had to plow it up when they needed 1t. It was
just kind of teamwork.

What kind of things did you raise in your garden?

I raised string beans, butter beans, turnips, mustard, carrots,
spinach, and okra. I don't hardly raise cabbage or collard greens
because me and my husband can't eat them. I stopped raising them.

Yeah. Did you gather things from the woods as well?

Well, no, such as berries and plums, no. I didn't gather any of
them because we don't care for them either. (laughter)

But some people do?
Oh, yes some people do. I used to gather a few plums, but after my
son-in-law moved home, he sat out a plum orchard. I get more plums

than I want because he’d have plenty of plums.

Did you have an orchard by the house you lived in at Town Creek
community?

Yes, I had a 1little peach orchard.

Did you can?

Oh, did I can! Oh, did I can!

Tell me how much you had to can to feed your family?

Oh, well it's hard to estimate. They were small when I lived at
Town Creek., They were small, but I couldn't can under two hundred
and fifty quarts at that time. As they grew older and larger, it
took more to do them. After we moved down here, the home demon-
stration agent gave us lessons how to can any kind of vegetables and
save it. We bought pressure cookers then and you can preserve
anything with a pressure cooker.

Didn't you have a pressure cooker when you lived up at Town Creek?

No, I didn't have one.

St 2
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How did you do your canning then?

Well, it was with a hot water bath. You peeled the fruit and got it
ready for canning, washed it, put it on the stove in a pan with a
little water and sugar. If you were going to sweeten it any or make
preserves, you know you would do it different from fresh home can-
ning. When you were just going to can fresh fruit without any
sugar, you just cook it, put your water on the stove, put your jars
in a pan, and let them get real hot, and put your fruit in there and
seal it up.

Did you have a big wood stove that you did this on at your house?
Yes. I had a pretty good-sized wood stove.

Where did you get your water when you lived up there?

Well, I got my water from across the road at Sister Shirley's. They
had a well down so I would get water from over there. They had an
artesian well,

Is the house that Mrs. Shirley lives in now the original Shirley
house?

No, they tore the original down. Her husband just built that one a
few years ago.

Whaﬁ did the Shirley's house look like when you first moved out
there?

Well, when I first moved out there, it had one log room and one
plank roon.

Did {t have a barn behind it?

Yes, 1t had a barn down on the corner of it, kind of back. It
wasn't centered back, you know, but it was out.

And did your house have a barn with it, too?

Yes, my husband has always been a busy man so he built him a barn.
What did you do when somebody got sick?

Well, they did what they knew to do, for far as they could.

What kind of medicines did they use that you remember?

Well, they used patent medicines such as aspirins, and chill tonic
if you had chills, Three S, and on like that.

What other brand names can you remember?
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Well, they had one they called St. Joseph's Liver Regulator and
another called Black Draught. There's a box of Black Draught sitting
up there, now. I just keep it for a souvenir because I don't take

it anymore. (laughter) Those were mostly the medicines that they
used.

Did anybody know medicines from the woods?

No, not as I know of, only for a cold. It's a weed that grew. It
ain't a weed; I don't know what 1t is. It's a plant that grows.
They call it mullen.

Did they make a tea out of it?

Yes, they'd make a tea out of that for colds in the winter. Some-
times, 1f the cold is kind of severe, they would put some castor oil
in that mullen tea., They would use pine tops; they would make tea
out of that for colds. If their chest would be so choked up or
something like that, they would get some tallow and heat it, melt
it, put it on a flannel cloth, and put some turpentine on it and
place that on the chest.

Sort of like Vicks?
Yes.
Did you ever have a doctor?

Yes, whenever they saw that it was necessary for a doctor, they
would get a doctor.

Was that the same in your mother's time?
Well, yes. It was the same in my mother's time.
Who were the doctors when you were living out there?

Dr. Price Ivy and Dr. Spalding, Dr. Dean, and Dr. Ellis, and a black
doctor named Dr. Zuber.

How do you spell his name?

2-U-B-E-R.

Were they all in West Poiat?

Yes.

There weren't any doctors living out your way?

No, only Dr. Uithoven. He wasn't registered with the town or nothing.

I don't know what nationality he was, but that's his son that lives
down on the river, now. But anyway, he was a good doctor. People
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have different ailments and they would go to him, tell him, he would
give them medicine, and it would help them.

M: Were there any other people living down by the river, other than Dr.
Uithoven? ’

L: No one else living down in that way, but the man that took care of
the ferry.

M: And who was that?

L: He was named Tommy Hawkins, so they called him Bear.

M: Where did he 1live?

L: He lived in a little house right up on the hill by the river. They
had him a little house built up there.

M: What kind of house was that?

L: Oh, it was just a. « « + I don't know what kind of house they call
them, but it was just some planks nailed together.

M: It was a plank house, not a log house?

L: Yes, that's right.

M: Did it have a central hall in it?

L: I can't remember one.

M: Did it have a front porch?

L: No.

M: Did it have wood shingles?

L: If I make no mistake, I think it had tin shingles.

M: Were there any other old houses up there, other than the one that
Mr. Hawkins lived in?

L: No, not as I remember.

M: Do you remember any old buildings that were scattered around through
the woods in there or didn't you go out in the woods much?

L: No, I didn't ever go out in the woods. I'm afraid of snakes, and I
den't do much traveling through the woods unless somebody is with me
to keep the snakes off.

M: Did your children play in the woods much?
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No, they didn't ever play in the woods much. They had such a large
opening around the hill there. Of course, there were a few trees
around the house, back down on the ditch out {n the pasture. They
would play out there some, but they didn't ever bother about going
to the woods much, They weren't searchers. (laughter)

Do you remember a building that Mr. John Poss lived in?

No, I didn't know him.

There was a building that sat right down by the Vinton Cemetery.
Miss Lucy Natcher lived behind it.

Yes, I remember the building that Miss Lucy Natcher lived in.

Could you tell me what that looked like?

No, I just really can't tell you. My husband could tell you what {t
looked like. I never was up in that part of the community much. I
didn't really pay attention.

Where did folks bury their people when they passed?

Well, they mostly buried down here, where you come across the rail-
road. All of that is cemetery back in there.

Is this down here at Waverly?

Yes, we called it Pitchlyn Field.

What about the people up by Vinton community?

Well, most of them would go back toward Concob to bury. 1It's an old
tradition to be buried where Mama or Daddy were buried at. Some-
times they would bring them down here to Pitchlyn or up to the Lee
Hill Cemetery. There was another cemetery way up on the far corner
of this road coming down from the west to Shady Grove. Those houses
that are over on that road were part of a big farm there. It has a
large cemetery called "Fields.” So, they are mostly buried in these
two and in the one over behind the mansion, the Tan Yard they call
it. A lot of people used to bury over there.

What kind of ceremony is hooked up with the funeral?

Well, they have the program, song, prayer, and scripture reading,
and then the life of a person as a neighbor, a church member, a
Masonic member or whatever, and then the eulogy.

Do they carry the person in a hearse?

Yes.

Did they carry them in wagons?
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Well, they carry them in a hearse, now.

What did they do when you were a girl?

Well, they carried them in wagons, then. There weren't any hearses.
What kind of coffins did they have?

Well, back when I was a girl, they had black coffins with the brass
shiny knobs on them.

Were they made out of wood?

Yes. They were made out of wood and painted.

Did somebody in the community make them?

No, they would buy them from town.

From West Point?

Yes.

Did you always do all of your shopping in West Point?
Just about.

Do you remember the days when the steamboats used to come up the
river?

No, not when they ran regularly, but once in awhile, maybe once a
year, one would come up this way.

Can vou describe what they looked like or what they sounded like?
Oh, no. I can't hardly describe it, but I know it was flat. It had
a tall steeple-like thing on it. I didn't get close enough to see
the inside. The last one that I saw going up the river had a man up
on deck cutting wood for the stove. He was just cutting wood like
he was out on the ground.

Was this a big boat?

Yes, it was a big boat.

And did they come all the way up to Vinton community?

Well, it was headed that way. I'm quite sure they said that they
were golng to Aberdeen. I was a child then and I wouldn't know how

far {t was going.

What year do you think that would have been in?
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Oh, I don't know. I was very small. I just had started going to
school, and the teacher, whenever anything extra like that would
come up, would dismiss the children so they could go and see. The
parents had to be responsible for taking them, but she would let the
school children out so they could go.

Did you hear the whistle?

Yes, I could hear the whistle. Some went up that I didn't see. I
could hear the whistles from where we lived.

Was it a big deal when the steamboat came up?

Uh~huh.

How many children were there in vour school when you were there?
Oh, I don't know., It wus just a one-room building but it was just
full of children. 1uils used to be a "quarter.” The people lived
here and back over behind this house, back on what they now call the
Kellogg place. There was a big quarter here, and around in Waverly
was a pretty good~sized quarter. There was just a lot of children.
People still live pretty much {n the old quarters?

No, the landlords tore all of that down.

What was your school like? Did it have desks in 1it?

It had one desk.

Were the rest just benches?

That's right, just benches.

Did you have a blackboard?

Yes, 1t had blackboards all around, three walls of them.

Three walls?

Yes, three walls of the school.

How big would you say the school building was?

Well, I wouldn't really know just how large it was.

Did you all have your own books?

Yes, you had to have your own books.

Where did you buy your books?
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There was a bookstore in West Point where you could buy all of your
books.

Did you go to West Point every week?

No, children back then didn't go to town often. They might have
gone once or twice a year.

Was that a real special thing?

Uh-huh, it was. And coming up near to Christmas, a little child
wouldn't go toward town. He would be too afraid that Santa Claus
would be there. (laughter)

What did you do for a Christmas celebration?

Oh, we'd have a Christian part of life where we would have Sunday
school and a service on Christmas morning. Then the children all
went together playing, shooting their firecrackers, showing their
presents, and one thing or another. There was a part of the young
men and the young women who would always have thelr Christmas dances
and things like that, guitar picking and all of those kinds of
things.

Now, where did they have those?

Well, {f there was an empty house in the neighborhood, they would
have it in there. If there wasn't an empty house around, they would
pack up the furniture out of one roon of someone's house and have

it in there. (laughter)

Yeah, what kind of presents did you get when yvou were a kid?

Oh, I got dolls, toy cats, little horns, little pianos, and things
like that.

Did you get any homemade toys?
No, no homemade toys at all.

Were there any carpenters in your village or in your quarters when
you were growing up?

Well, they weren't so skilled with timber, just common, you know.
You would find a few who could basket weave.

Can you tell me how they make the baskets?

They would go to the woods. There's a certain kind of a timber
that they would cut, split {t up fine, and they would make splits
about an inch wide, long strips. Then they would take those, put
them down on the ground, and cross them like a wheel, lay a strip
this way and a strip that way. Then they would take another strip
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and start around it after they'd get the bottom built. Then they'd
take that and go all around {it.
M: How did they make their splits, with a jacknife? !

L: Well, they had some kind of knife; I think they called it a draw- i
knife, ;

M: Did it have two handles?
L: Uh-huh.
M: Did they have a bench that they worked on?
L: Some of them did, and some didn't. There was one old man named Ike
Wilson. He could weave willow. He would take little limbs off of H
the willow, and he could make the beautifulest basket you ever saw. {
M: What did you use these baskets for?
L: Well, you could use them for taking lunch, use them for eggs. Some
people use to take eggs and homemade butter to town in thenm, use
them for those kinds of purposes. These baskets with big splits,
they would be used to put cotton in. When you pick the cotton in

the field, get your sack full, you would empty it in this basket,.

M: How much did each basket hold?

L: Well, most of them would hold from a hundred to maybe a hundred and
f1fty pounds. Some would be larger.

i M: That's a big lot of cotton, isn't {t? (laughter)

L: Yes, it {s for you to have to pull it out of the boll with your
fingers.

M: How long did it take you to pick that much cotton?
L: What a hundred pounds?
M: Yeah,

L: It would take some people a half of a day. It would take some a
whole day. Whenever I got a hundred, it took me all day. Of
course, I would have other things that cut in between. 1I'd had to
stop and cook dinner. If the family didn't come to the house for
dinner, I would have to take it to them and let them have a picnic
in the cotton patch. (laughter)

-
—
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You owned your own farm, right? You and your husband?

L: Now, we do, but when we first married and were living over there in
front of Mrs. Shirley's, we were living on Mr. Watson's then.
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Oh, so that wasn't your land?
No, that's right. We were just renting.
How much was your year's rent?

Third and fourth, a third of the cotton and a fourth of the corn.
(laughter)

Was that enough?

Well, I don't know. It depends on how much you'd be able to make.
So you had your good years, and you had your bad years?

That's right. They had the good years and the bad years.

What nade for a bad year? What kind of thing hurt your crops?
Well, the seasouns mostly. Sometimes it was too wet and sometimes
too dry. When 1t's too wet, the grass takes over and crops just
can't make in the grass.

Can't you hoe it out fast enough?

When it's too wet, you can't even hoe, can't chop or plow.

With a turning plow?

Well, they used the cultivators.

Yeah? When they were plowing, did they use wooden~sweep plows or
did they use steel-sweep plows?

Well, some would use steel and some would use wood.

Can you remember the wooden plows?

Yes, because my daddy was a real good farmer, and he believed in
having good farm tools. He wouldn't buy the wooden sweepstock. He
would buy the steel ones.

I'm curious about what kind of fences you had on your place?

For the barn, they had a split rail fence. I guess you've come
around this road from West Point, around where Mr., Bryan's place has
those rails laid in and out. Well that's the kind of fence that my
daddy would use for his hogs and the mules. He didn't use it for
the cows. He always had a wire fence for the cows.

Did you ever have any old bodock fences?

No. My husband used a few bodock posts, but my father didn't ever
use any. He just used the common post oak.

e ——————— >
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Did you hang your clothes outside on clotheslines like we use now?
Yes.

Were they metal wire or were they cloth wire?

Metal wire.

Did you have to lock your doors when you were living up there?
Well, sometimes.

What kind of locks did you have?

Well, they were just the common flat locks with a key about that
long.

So you just locked your doors from the inside?

Well, you would mostly lock it from the ouside when you were going
out. When you come in, no one ever bothered to lock the door.

Did you have windows in the house?

Yes, I had windows.

What about the one that you lived in when you were a little girl?
It had windows. I've always had windows.

Did it have shutters, too?

No shutters, just the plain window.

Shutters must have been done away with by then?

When you saw a shutter, it didn't have a glass.

I see. Were there some people who still didn't have glass windows?
That's right., I knew a lady who lived to be an old lady, and she
hadn't ever lived in a house with the window glass in it until she
got to be old. Oh, she didn't live many years after. All of her
children were grown, and the biggest portion of her grandchildren
were grown before she was able to live in a house with windows.

I bet she was real happy when she did get the windows.

One of her daughters said, "Lawd, I hope my mama won't take a heart
attack because she 1s living in a house with windows where she can

look out without having to push the shutters open.” (laughter) So
you can live and adjust yourself to anything.

.. L e m——————
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It is not always the most pleasant thing to do, though.

No, it isn't too pleasant to do, but if you can't do it youself and
got to depend on somebody else to do it for you, it is better for
you to adjust yourself to the condition. Some people regardless how
you want something, they don't see it like that. They see you doing
alright, and you've been doing like this all of your life. Some
people don't ever plan for another step up in life. If you just
don't have it, just make yourself contented and do the best you can.
Maybe one day you can get it before you die.

You sound like you have had a very happy life.
Oh, it has been happy, exciting. . . .
Sounds like you worked awful hard, though.

Well, you know that's the way of 1life, it's work. I like to work,
and that's the only way that you can have some of the things that
you wanted. You have to work. I don't mind the work, you know.

The most blessed thing {s--and I thank the Lord for it--having a
happy home. That's all of it. You don't even see the work; you
don't even give it a thought. If you go out and have a hard day's
work, come in with your family and everybody is jolly and happy, you
can sit down and laugh and talk, forget about that hard work. If
things are confused, you don't want to be there yourself, much less
do anything there.

Did you visit with your neighbors quite a bit when you were living
up in Town Creek? Did everybody come over to your house on Sunday
afternoon ore . o ? :

Well, yes. Some Sunday afternoons we would just have a lot of
company because of the fact that we usually go from one church to
the other on different Sundays, have service at different churches.
This Sunday we're having church at my church, and I have the minister
for dinner and everybody comes over.

I see.

It goes from one to the other like that, and it's real enjoyable.
You still bring the preacher home for a Sunday meal?

Yes, sometimes, and sometimes, since they have the kitchen at the
church, sometimes we just take it to the church.

1 see.
That's real enjoyable, too.

Did you get together very much with the people from Concob Church?
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L: No, not very much because we have the same days for service.

M: I see,

o o e o

L: That makes it kinda difficult. !

M: Could you tell me a little bit about the history of Shady Grove
Church? (pause) You have a document there, Mrs. Lenoir?

} L: Beg your pardon?
M: You have a document on the history of the church there?
L: This is about it.
M: Could you read some of that into the microphone for me?
L: Well, where would you like for me to start at, the first beginning?

M: Yes, just tell me the important parts of it. Is this -an article
that you wrote for one of your church anniversaries?

| L: Yes, so it was the anniversary of the church from 1885 to 1963.
That's when this was wrote, in 1963.

Shady Grove's Anniversary from 1885 to 1963

This seed was sewn. It produced and began to bring forth
fruit under the minister who was a shepherd at this time,
. Reverend Mitchell Adams. This church was called Shady
l Grove. I will name some of the officers of its official
! board: Bob Sherrod, Ned Hyde, Larkin Harris, and Colonel
Brown. There stood some ministers: Jeff Daugherty,
Anthony Brownrigg, and Elbert Coleman. They were closely
associated to the church.

As builders, Rev. M. C. Adans was the builder of the firast
free church., Part of its walls still remain on the ori-
ginal spot. The first farm was three quarters of a mile

‘ away. This free church was built and completed. The

‘ stone was laid on the second Sunday in April, in 1902.
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